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Auditor’s report
To : The Shareholders of Cairo for Investment and Real Estate Development "S.A.E."

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cairo for Investment and
Real Estate Development “SAE” (Parent Company) and its subsidiaries (The Group) which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 August 2021 and the consolidated
statements of profit or loss, other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Group’s management.
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Egyptian Accounting Standards and in light of the prevailing
Egyptian laws. Management's responsibility includes, designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Management
responsibility also includes selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Egyptian Standards on Auditing and in light of the
prevailing Egyptian laws. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements, and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies and accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained are sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ezzeldeen, Diab & Co., Public Accountants
Plot no 211, Second Sector, City Center, New Cairo 11835, Egypt, PO Box 170 New Cairo
T: +20 2 2759 7700, F: +20 2 2759 7711, WWW.pwe.com
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The Shareholders of Cairo for Investment and Real Estate Development "S.A.E."
Page 2

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material

respects, the consolidated financial position of Cairo for Investment and Real Estate Development

_its subsidiaries as of 31 August 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance

att cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Egyptian Accounting
ight'of the related Egyptian laws and regulations.

i i

7/
xq“\bgg of E, yggj/{ociew of Accountants & Auditors
Member-of American Society of Certified Public Accountants
R.A.A. 17996
F.R.A 388

8 November 2021
Cairo
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Consolidated statement of financial position - as at 31 August 2021

(All amounts are shown in Egyptian Pounds) Note 31 August 2021

31 August 2020

Non-current assets

Fixed assets 6 3,612,970,231 1,860,769,512
Work in progress 7 21,581,907 21,581,907
Investments in associates 8 102,854,624 80,768,658
Goodwill 30 28,975,049 28,975,049
Debtors and other debit balances - non-current
portion 11 117,946,243 68,733,131
Total non-current assets 3,884,328,054 2,060,828,257
Current assets
Inventories 10 13,016,332 7,253,985
Debtors and other debit balances 11 371,568,665 153,263,250
Cash on hand and balances at banks 12 236,425,186 208,626,454
Total current assets 621,010,183 369,143,689
Total assets 4,505,338,237 2,429,971,946
Equity
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the
Parent Company
Paid-up share capital 13 233,116,130 233,116,130
Reserves 14 229,395,120 229,271,204
Retained earnings 752,532,165 539,466,157
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the
Parent Company 1,215,043,415 1,001,853,491
Non-controlling interests 29 127,775,347 101,052,062
Total equity 1,342,818,762 1,102,905,553
Non-current liabilities
Non-current portion of loans and credit facilities 671,953,040 507,480,859
[jarah bonds 587,656,871 -
Deferred tax liabilities +357169,161 34,262,888
Non-current portion of creditors and other-ere 5:26%576,293 94,805,855
balances 4
Total non-current liabilities ¢ ‘_'.:‘i,97l,§55,365 636,549,602
Current liabilities i
Provisions ) 88,927,257 70,603,095
Creditors and other credit balances T ,_ 4 607, 3%31 ,576 223,742,405
Advance revenues B =2 067854, 152 234,661,208
Current income tax liabilities ——TTTI8 130,381,348 84,156,700
Loans and credit facilities 15 157,669,777 77,353,383
Total current liabilities 1,191,164,110 690,516,791
Total liabilities 3,162,519,475 1,327,066,393
Total liabilities and equity __4,505,338,237 2,429,971,946

- The accompanying notes on plages 8 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements
- Auditor's report attachied

/A (] J
Mr. Mohgam | Khouly
Chief Financial Officer

Cairo on 8 November 2021

Dr. Hassan Hassan El Kalla
Board Chairman
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Consolidated statement of profit or loss - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts are shown in Egyptian Pounds)

Activity revenues
Activity cost

General and administrative expenses
Provisions formed

Other income

Profits generated from operations
Net finance (costs) income

Profit before taxes

Current income tax

Deferred taxes

Net profits for the year

Profit of:
Shareholders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

Earning per share from profit related to
the shareholders of the Parent Company
Basic earning

- The accompanying notes on pages 8 to 61 form an integral-

statements 4

Note 31 August 2021 31 August 2020
22 1,390,581,678 1,087,913,436
23 (578,715,399) (530,870,121)

811,866,279 557,043,315
24 (233,353,535) (156,001,337)
21 (20,787,822) (2,700,682)
26 22,047,390 5,140,431
579,772,312 403,481,727
27 (118,992,573) (52,641,969)
460,779,739 350,839,758
19 (129,055,586) (82,830,943)
20 (906.273) (757.736)
330,817,880 267,251,079
308,574,367 254,765,036
29 22,243,513 12,486,043
330,817,880 267,251,079
31 0,44 0,35

T

R T ERE ]

ant of these consolidated financial
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts are shown in Egyptian Pounds)

Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive income items

Currency differences resulting from foreign
currency translation

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income of:
Shareholders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

- The accompanying notes on
statements

Note 31 August 2021 31 August 2020
330,817,880 267,251,079

206,527 352,639

331,024,407 267,603,718

308,698,283 254,976,619

29 22,326,124 12,627,099
331,024,407 267,603,718
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Consolidated statement of cash flows - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts are shown in Egyptian Pounds)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profits before taxes

Adjustments:

Fixed assets depreciation

Finance costs

Amortization of bonds issuance cost

Interests revenues

Impairment of projects in progress

Impairment losses on debtors and other debit balances
Impairment losses on debtors and other debit balances no longer
required

Utilised provision for impairment of debtors and other debit balances
Provisions formed

(Gains) losses on sale of fixed assets

Impairment of investments in associates

Utilised provisions

Operating profit before change in current assets and liabilities
Change in current assets and liabilities

Changes in inventories

Change in debtors and other debit balances

Change in creditors and other credit balances and accrued income
Income tax paid

Net cash flows generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for purchase of fixed assets

Bonds issuance cost

Payments for the purchase of non-controlling interests

Proceeds from interests payable

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets

Payments for projects in progress

Payments for works in progress

Paid under investments in associates

Investments

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from loans and bank facilities

Paid from loans and bank facilities
Paid finance costs

Issued Ijarah bonds S )
Proceeds from sale of share in mvestments in subSldlarlcs P
Minority interests share of capital i mcrease of SUb31dlar1es -

Dividends paid ™o
Net cash flows generated from ﬁnancmg actlvmes

Net change in cash and cash equlvalents durmg the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Currency differences resulting from foreign currency translation
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Note 31 August 2021 31 August 2020
460,779,739 350,839,758

6 101,907,666 78,404,650
27 142,354,016 67,267,286
16 1,299,277 -
27 (24,847,612) (15,171,537)
6 - 90,463
25 16,616,312 4,812,354
11 (3,360,150) -
11 (1,353,574) -
21 20,787,822 2,700,682
26 (1.638) 537
255,000 -

21 (2,463,660) (4,743,592)
711,973,198 484,357,080

(5,762,347) (6,592,147)

(279,421,115) (11,403,249)

937,041,180 95,181,365

19 (82,830,938) (64,790,066)
1,280,999,978 496,752,983

6 (1,150,191,975) (509,571,391)
16 (13,642,406) -
- (1,571,827)

24,847,612 15,171,537

6,001 4,828

6 (703,920,773) (279,046,902)
- 2,076,665

(22,340,965) (23,347,333)

- 1,000,000

(1,865,242,507) (795,284,423)
453,514,245 509,746,941

(208,725,670) (14,410,343)
(142,354,016) (67,267,286)

600,000,000 -

7,995,000 -

12,026,250 -

(110,621,075) (83,937,472)

611,834,734 344,131,840

27,592,205 45,600,400

208,626,454 163,019,272

206,527 (620)

12 236,425,186 208,619,052

- The accompanying notes on pages 8 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

1.

Introduction

Cairo for Investment and Real Estate Development (the Parent Company) was established
under a preliminary contract dated 15 March 1992 which was ratified on 17 August 1992
under ratification minutes No. 1978 (d) of the year 1992 at Real Estate Publicity Office in
Nasr City. The Company is registered under the commercial register number 273431 dated 22
August 1992.

The Parent Company's headquarters is located in 36 Sheikh Ahmed El Sawy Street, Nasr
City, Cairo.

The Parent Company was founded for the purpose of: Construction, foundation and
management of educational institutions in accordance with the applicable laws and decrees,
administrative housing, below average housing, medical institutions, trade of medical tools
and hospitals equipment, providing petroleum services, buying and selling and the division of
land, taking into account the provisions of law No. 143 of 1981, - import and export, sale and
purchase of residential apartments, administrative units and real estate, without violation to
the decision of the Minister of Economy and Foreign Trade No. 204 for the year 1991. The
Parent Company may have interests or participate in any mean with companies having similar
activities or which may assist it in achieving its purpose in Egypt or abroad. The Parent
Company may also have the right to be merged or acquire or annex the above mentioned
entities to it under the provisions of law and its executive regulations. The activity of
establishing real estates, private and general public contracting and commercial agencies from
Egyptian and foreign companies has been added to the purpose of the Group.

The main shareholders of the Parent Company is Social Impact Capital “Ltd.” owning
51,22%.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 8
November 2021.

Accounting policies
Significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are summarised below:

A. Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Egyptian Accounting Standards (EASs) and related laws and regulations. The same
accounting policies and principles used with the financial statements have been
followed in comparison with the latest annual financial statements, unless otherwise
stated. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention except for financial investments available for sale measured at fair

value.
The Group presents its assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position sbased-on the current/ nonucuxrenft classification. The asset is classified as

* Expécted td. be; Iréalised. .or mtended to be sold or used in normal operating course.

*  Held primarily fpr tr,admg B

N Exp¢cted to be ﬁezili’sed w1thm twelve bmonths after the end of the reporting date,
or | YYVETY o f,_;‘», 14 3

. Cash or.cash.equivalents. unless-restricted from being exchanged or used to settle
a liability for at least twelve months after the financial reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current assets.

fi
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

Accounting policies (continued)

A.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

The liability is classified as current when it is:

Expected to be settled in the normal operating course.

Held primarily for trading.

Required to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting date, or
The Company does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the end of the consolidated financial
reporting period.

* X %

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Egyptian
Accounting Standards (EASs) requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the management to exercise its judgement when applying
the Group’s accounting policies. Note (4) clarifies the most significant accounting
estimates and judgements applied for the preparation of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

International Financial Reporting Standards apply for the topics not covered by the
EASs until the issuance of a related EAS discussing such topics.

New issued and amendments made to EASs, but not yet effected

On 28 March 2019, the Minister of Investment issued Resolution No. 69 of 2019,
which includes the new standards and amendments to the existing standards.
Amendments to EASs were published in the Official Gazette on 7 April 2020. These
changes are presented mainly in three new standards that should be applied for the
financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

On 12 April 2020, the Financial Regulatory Authority issued a statement postponing
the application of amendments to the new EASs to the periodic financial statements
and restricting them to the annual financial statements by the end of 2020.

On 23 September 2020, the Financial Regulatory Authority issued a statement
postponing the application of amendments to the new EASs to the periodic financial
statements and restricting them to the financial years commencing on or after 1
January 2021.

On 9 May 2021, the Financial Regulatory Authorlty issued a statement postponing
the presentation df the " accountmg impaet - f_‘,applying Standard No. 47 on financial
instruments in th;a financial~ statements no later {than the date of preparing the
quarterly f'manmal statements. -on - 31 ’December 2021 with the inclusion of the
consolidated accotmtmg 1mpact for the. whole year startmg from 1 January 2021 until
31 December 2021, with thé’ COmpames obligation to make sufficient disclosure
thereof. The Group s financial yéar begins:at 1 September and ends at 31 August of
each year. Thus, the Group has assessed.the.impact-of applying the new standards and
implementing them starting from the financial year 2021-2022.

New standards to be implemented

Certain new and mandatory amended accounting standards have been published for
the consolidated financial statements for financial years commencing on or after
January 2020.

. -9-
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

B.

New issued and amendments made to EASs, but not yet effected (continued)

Management has assessed the impact of the new standards on the Group's accounting
policies and the potential impact on the opening balance of retained earnings for the
financial year 2021/2022.

EAS 47 “Financial instruments”

EAS 47 “Financial instruments” includes requirements for recognition and
measurement, impairment, de-recognition, and general hedge accounting for the
financial instruments, along with a new impairment model that relies on the expected
credit losses rather than realized losses.

Financial asset is classified at initial recognition. However, if certain conditions are
fulfilled, the asset may later need to be reclassified. After initial recognition, all assets
are measured within the scope of the standard as follows:

- Amortized cost

- Fair value through other comprehensive income; or

- Fair value through profits or losses:

As at the evaluation date, the Group’s financial assets are comprised of the following:
- Cash
- Debtors and other debit balances

Recognition, measurement and classification

Based on the standard requirements and the assessment of the model of managing the
financial assets held by the Company and its contractual cash flows, the Group will
continue to hold debit balances at amortized cost. Also, the Group's investment in
debt instruments should be measured at amortized cost since the objective of the
investments is to hold assets for the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows on
specified dates, as these cash flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest. The Group does not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value.

Impairment

EAS (47) introduces a new impairment model that relies on the expected credit losses
rather than the incurred losses that applies to all-items-within the scope of impairment
requirements. Expected créc_!it; losses:should be measured through a loss provision in
an amount equal to |2-month expected credit, losses! or lifetime ECLs. A loss
provision is required for lifetime; ECLs for‘a‘finanéial instrument if the credit risk on
that financial instrumént has increased significantly since the initial recognition.
Contract assets or debit balances thaf do not contain a significant financing element
are also required. VTETY st 1

¥ - S———

S S PT SRL E T T
In addition, entities can choose an accounting policy to recognize lifetime ECLs for
all contract assets and/or all the debit balances, including those with a significant
financing element. The same selection is also allowed separately for rental balances.
For all other financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an amount equal to 12-
month ECLs.

-10 -
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

B.

New issued and amendments made to EASs, but not yet effected (continued)

The standard establishes a three-stage impairment model based on whether a financial
asset has significantly increased credit risk since its initial recognition. However, a
simplified form is allowed for the following: - Debit balances or contract assets that
do not have a significant financing element. F. Other long-term debit balances or
contractual assets with a significant financing element and lease balances if the entity
chooses as its accounting policy to measure the loss provision in an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Hence, the standard allowed for a simplified approach to trade receivables rather than
the general three-stage approach, according to which entities must calculate ECLs on
receivable balances based on asset attributes and different historical loss patterns.
Under the new model, entities must update the past provision rates with current and
future estimates. A similar approach can be followed for contract assets.

Management has assessed the Group's financial assets based on the standard
requirements and were summarized as follows:

- As permitted by Egyptian Accounting Standard No. (47), the Group has applied the
simplified approach to assess the expected credit losses on trade receivables by
individually assessing non-performing debit balances and other debit balances reserve
based on historical rates and future loss estimates.

As at the evaluation date, the Group's debit balances mainly consist of short-term
guaranteed payments to suppliers, advance payments, leases and other deposits.

Based on the assessment, management does not expect any material impact on the
financial assets classification, or the amount of expected loss.

EAS (48) “Revenue from contracts with customers”
EAS (48) replaces EAS (8) “Construction contracts” and EAS (11) “Revenue”. The
new standard provides an individual model from five steps based on principles to be
applied to all contracts with customers. Revenue is recognized when the entity
transfers control of the goods or services to the customer for the amount that the
entity expects to receive. Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is
recognized either over time, in a manner that best reflects the entity's performance, or
when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer. The five-step
model includes: e —_—— pen s
- Determining ‘;he, contract. witH the custorme ;
- Determining the contractual liabili ‘to transporﬁ goods and/or services
- Determining ;he transaction prlce
- Allocating transaction pri¢e0°petfofmance obllgatlon
- Recognizing revenue as:soon-as thé ,performance obligation is fulfilled and based
on the related transactlon prlce o]

=1 =
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2,

Accounting policies (continued)

B.

New issued and amendments made to EASs, but not yet effected (continued)

The Group's operating revenues mainly consist of tuition fees calculated on fixed-
price basis in exchange for the provision of the academic service. The Group collects
tuition fees before the start of the first and second semesters (around September and
January of each year) and revenue is recognized on a daily basis as students are
provided the service during the semester. Operating revenues also include student
services which are collected in cash when service is provided to students.

Management has assessed the effects of applying the model made up of five steps of
the standard on the Group's financial statements and has concluded that no change is
required in its revenue measurement or policy.

EAS 49 “Leases” stage 2 (Lease Contract) excluding those subject to Law 95 of
1995.

With a single finance and operating lease model, the standard requires the recognition
of a lease liability equal to the present value of future lease liabilities and the 'right-
of-use’ of the corresponding asset. While the standard changes lessee accounting,
lessor accounting and classification of a lease as operating or financial remain the
same.

Management has assessed the existing lease contracts under the following

requirements of the standard:

- Application of the lease liability calculation from the start date of the lease
/contract.

- Recognition of a "right to use" asset equal to the reduced lease payments until the
end of the lease term using the Company's borrowing rate.

- Recognition of a liability asset equals the discounted lease payments until the end
of the lease term using the Company's borrowing rate net of any advance lease.

- The straight-line amortization of the lease asset “Right of Use”

- Recognition of the low-valued leases' payments and contracts which are expected
to be terminated within the next 12 months remain as an expense in the statement
of profit or loss. _— i

The management i§ assessing the'ithpact of applying the standard requirements on the

retained earnings of the beginning balance for the financial year 2021/2022.

4 S o s i

Basis of consolidation

1. Subsidiaries , e
- Subsidiaries are all-entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed to, or has the right to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The subsidiary is fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that
control ceases.

=12 =




CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2. Accounting policies (continued)
C. Basis of consolidation (continued)

- Based upon the Presidential Decree No. 117 of 2013, the Parent Company
established Badr University. Based on the same decree, the Group as the Founder
is entitled to surplus revenues after deduction of expenses as determinable by the
Board of Trustees of the University.

The consolidated financial statements includes the following subsidiaries:
Percentage of ownership

Country of 2021 2020

incorporation
Cairo Educational Services Egypt 69.4% 69.4%
Upper Egypt Educational Services Egypt 99% 99%
Egyptian Educational Systems Egypt 100% 100%
Global Educational Technologies Egypt 79.5% 79.5%
Cairo Egypt for Educational 59.95% 99.95%

Premises Egypt

Futures and Nations Company ** Egypt 50% 50%
Emco for Systems and Computers Egypt 82.5% 82.5%
Egyptian Schools Company Egypt 61% 61%
Educational Systems International Egypt 80% 80%
Badr University Egypt 100% 100%
Star Light Company UAE 60% 60%

* The Company sold 40% of its share in Cairo Egypt for Educational Premises to El
Sewedy Educational Services Holding Company Ltd., while retaining its ability to
control the operating and financing policies and the Company's main activities.
Accordingly, the investment was retained as an investment in subsidiaries and the
Company continues to be recognized in the consolidated financial statements with
recognizing the difference between the amount of the non- controlling interest
adjustment and the fair value for the consrderatlon received in the statement of
equity of the Parent Company w8

%!

** Management of the Parent Company has ssessed the degree of the Group’s
influence over the Futures ‘and-Nations COmpany and concluded that the Company
has the control oyer operating, and firiancing pollcles of the Company. Also, the
Parent Company s entitled to varlable returns through its contribution to the
Company and hasithe abrlrty to“infliencé tHose returns through its power over the
Company. Consequently,-the-investiiient has béen accounted for as an investments
in subsidiaries and consolidated within the consolidated financial statements.

-13-




| ——

—

B

PU—

POR———

NS

CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

C.

Basis of consolidation (continued)

1.1 Acquisition method
The Group applies the acquisition method when processing each business

combinations.

The consideration transferred in a business combination to acquire a subsidiary is
measured at the fair value accounted for as the fair values of the assets transferred and
the liabilities incurred by the Group to the former shareholders of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities, and contingent liabilities assumed are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. In any business combination, the
Group recognises any non-controlling interests in the subsidiary at the proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition.

Acquisition-related costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group re-measures the
previously held equity interest in the acquiree at fair value in the acquisition date.
Any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised within other
comprehensive income.

Assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows related to transactions
between the Group's entities are eliminated. When necessary, subsidiaries’ financial
statements have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

1.2 Changes in ownership interests held within controlling interests

When the ratio of equity held within controlling interests changes, the Group changes
the amounts recorded for controlling and non-controlling shares to reflect such
changes in the relevant shares in the subsidiary. The Group recognises directly within
the equity of the Parent Company any difference between the amount of changing the
non-controlling shares and the'fair value of the consideration paid or received.

q #
4 /

} & bl

1.3 Disposal ofsubsndlarles Casoharal i) oF =
When the Group ceases to:! ha/ve control “the ’Group recognises any retained
investment in the entity'that was a subsndlary at its fair value at the date when control
is lost, with the resultant change recogmsed as proﬁt or loss attributable to the owners

of the Parent Company YYWEEY 1 ¢
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

C.

Basis of consolidation (continued)

1.4 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value at the date of acquisition of the Group’s equity previously held at
the acquiree over the net value of the identifiable acquired assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition. If the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value at the date
of acquisition of the Group’s equity previously held at the acquiree is less than the net
value of the identifiable acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date
of acquisition, the Group recognises the gain resulting in the profit and loss at the date
of acquisition and the gains are attributed to the Group.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is
allocated to each of the cash generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the business combination. Each unit or group of units to
which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

1.5 Measurement period

The measurement period is the period required for the Group to obtain the
information needed for initial measurement of the items resulting from the acquisition
of the subsidiaries, and does not exceed one year from the date of acquisition. In case
the Group obtains new information during the measurement period relative to the
acquisition, amendment is made retrospectively for the amounts recognised at the
date of acquisition.

2. Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not
control. Generally, this is the case when the Group owns directly or indirectly
between 20% and 50% of the votmg rlghts in’ the asSoc1ates

2.1 Equity method A e XF N
The equity method is used in accountmg for mvestments in associates so that the
investment is initially recognisedat ‘Cost-of acquisition; and the cost is modified after
the date of acquisition to the changes durmg post-acquisition period on the Group's
share in the net assets of the associates. The.Group's-profit or loss includes its share in
the associate's profit or loss, and the consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income includes the Group's share in the associate's other comprehensive income.
This is in exchange for adjusting the carrying amount of the investment by the
Group's total share in the changes in equity after the date of acquisition.

5=




CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

C.

Basis of consolidation (continued)
2. Associates (continued)

2.2 Changes in equity

If the Group's equity in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the reduction rate of the amount of profit or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profits or
losses when relevant assets or liabilities are disposed of.

2.3 Losses of associates

When the Group’s share of losses in associates equals or exceeds its interest in these
associates, the Group ceases to recognise its share in additional losses. Once the
Group's share is reduced to zero, further losses are recognised but only to the extent
of incurred legal or constructive obligations by the Group or payments made on
behalf of the associates. When those companies realise profits in subsequent periods,
the Group resumes to recognise its share in those profits, but only after its share of
profits equals its share in unrecognised losses.

2.4 Transactions with associates
In relation to profits or losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the

associate, only the portion not owned by the Group is recognised.

2.5 Goodwill resulting from investment in associates

The excess of the total consideration transferred over the Group's share in the net fair
value for the acquired determinable assets and contingent liabilities at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill.

The goodwill resulting from contribution in associates is recognised within the cost of
investment in associates net of the accumulated impairment losses in the investment
value of associates and shall not be recognised separately. The impairment of
goodwill in associates is not separately tested, it is rather tested in the carrying
amount of the investment as a whole - as a separate asset - by comparing amount with
the recoverable amount. Impairment.loss- recogmsed in this case are not allocated on
any asset. Therefore any reverse Settlement.” of' the impairment losses will be
recognised to the extent in Wthh the recoverable amount subsequently increases,
provided it does not exceed’ thei 1mpa1rment losses prevnously recognised.
Foreign currency translaq.o‘n Sy ) i

i s gl el {4 ‘
€)) Functional. and.presentation-currency "
Items included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates (‘the
functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Egyptian

Pounds, which is the Group's functional and presentation currency.
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2. Accounting policies (continued)
D. Foreign currency translation (continued)
() Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the period are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the re-evaluation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profits or losses at the date of the
consolidated financial position.

E. Fixed assets
The Group applies the cost model in measurement of fixed assets, and the fixed assets
are recognised in light of this model after its recognition as an asset on their cost net
of the accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of
fixed asset includes any costs directly associated with bringing the asset to the site
and into a working condition that it is ready for use intended by the Group’s
management.

The Group capitalises subsequent costs of the acquisition of a fixed asset as a
separate asset, only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The Group recognises in the
carrying amount of a fixed asset the cost incurred to replace part of that asset at the
date such costs are borne, which is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the
related asset or the estimated useful life, whichever is less, and the carrying amount
of replaced parts are de-recognised. The Group recognises the costs of daily servicing
of the fixed asset in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The straight line method is used to allocate the depreciation of fixed assets
consistently over their estimated useful lives, except for lands, which are
characterised with unlimited estimated useful life. Below are the estimated useful
lives of each type of the assets' groups:

Buildings, premises and facilities 5%
Devices, furniture, and fittings 20%
Computers 20%
Transportations 20%
Tools and equipment 20%,..- =

The Group reviews the resndual value df fixed assets and their estimated useful lives

at the end of each ﬁnanc1al ye d adJust when expectatlons differ from previous
estimates and accounted for pros] ctlvely

a Ll it
The carrying amount of the fixed asset is, reduoed to the amount of recoverable value,
if the recoverable value of an asset is less than its-earrying amount. This reduction is
considered as a loss resulting fromi impairment.
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

D.

Foreign currency translation

Gain or loss on the disposal of an item of fixed assets from the books are determined
based on the difference between the net proceeds from the disposal of the item and
the carrying amount of the item. Gain or loss resulting from the disposal of fixed
assets is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss “other income”.

Projects in progress

Projects in progress are stated at cost, which includes all direct costs related and
required to bring the asset to the condition needed for operation and to be used in the
intended purpose. Projects in progress are transferred to fixed assets when they are
finalised and are ready for their intended use.

Works in progress

Works in progress are stated at cost, which includes all direct costs related and
required to bring the asset to the condition needed for sale.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible asset that has an indefinite useful life or intangible asset not available for
use are tested annually for impairment by the Group at the date of consolidated
financial statements.

The Group carries out an impairment test for non-financial assets that have definite
useful life and are subject to depreciation or amortisation whenever events or
indications of the possibility of impairment losses in the value of the asset.

The asset is tested for impairment by comparing its carrying amount with its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value
less costs of sale or value in use. For the purposes of impairment tests, assets are
allocated to the smallest identifiable group of cash inflows that are largely
independent of cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (the cash generating
unit).

The Group recognises impairment loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
at the amount by which the carrying.amount 'gof an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. e raay 175 il

3 .

R

Fud &

§oyno il o b

At the end of éd'c'h financjal period, thie Group agsesses whether there is an indication
that the carrying am6unt of any’ recognized asset, other than goodwill which is
recognised in ‘prior years;sis /impdired, the Group then evaluates the recoverable

amount of thatasset. .. corees | %y
i AR R T .

Impairment losses.recognised iri“prior years (other than goodwill) are reversed when
there is an indication that such losses no longer exist or have decreased. Impairment
losses, which should not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of depreciation) are also reversed. Such reversal is recognised in
consolidated statement of profits or losses.
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2. Accounting policies (continued)
I. Financial assets

1. Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
financial assets and assets available for sale. The classification of the financial asset
depends on the purpose for which they were acquired. Management classifies its
financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables:

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
values that are not quoted in an active market. Financial assets listed in such Group
are presented as current asset if expected to be recovered within 12 months from the
date of the end of the financial period. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise
‘debtors and other debit balances’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Held-to-maturity financial assets:

Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable amounts and fixed maturities that the Group has positive intention and
ability to hold till maturity.

Held to maturity investments are classified within non-current assets, unless the
investment matures in less than 12 months of the consolidated statement of financial
position. If so, they are classified within current assets.

Available-for-sale financial assets:

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative assets that are designated as
available for sale assets for acquisition and not classified as loans and receivables or
held to maturity financial assets or financial assets at fair value through profits and
losses. Available-for-sale financial assets are classified within non-current assets
except the investments which matures in less than 12 months, or Group’s
management intends to dispose of it in less than 12 months from the financial
position date. If so, they are classified within current assets.

2.  Initial recognition and measurement
A financial asset is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial asset.

Financial asset is initially measured at fair value, in addition to other costs directly
associated with the execution of the transaction.

3. Subsequent MeASUrement...... ... ——_
Loans and receanble ‘and ‘held .to * ina 1ty,..,. ﬁnanmal assets are subsequently
measured at amonjtlsed qost us g the cffecﬁve interest rate. Available-for-sale
financial assets arg measured -at’ fair ‘.yaluenthfough‘equlty Interests calculated are

recognised in the cg)nsolldated tsgq)tgm}epg ‘of profits or| losses within net finance costs.

i Ldv AR y A
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

L

Financial assets (continued)

4. De-recognition

- The financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial asset has expired or where the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership.

- The financial asset is derecognised at its carrying amount at the date of de-
recognition, and profits (losses) of de-recognition are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss within the other revenues.

- The profits (losses) of de-recognition of the financial asset represents the
difference between the carrying amount at the date of de-recognition and the
proceeds resulting from the de-recognition of the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each financial period whether there is objective
evidence that a specific financial asset or a group of financial assets may be impaired.
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is an objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and
that loss event(s) has an impact on the expected cash flows of the financial asset or
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The objective evidence of impairment includes indications that the debtors or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulties, violation of contract terms
such as default in interest or principal payments, or the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, or where observable data indicate that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows of a group of financial assets
since the initial recognition, or, national or domestic circumstances that correlate with
defaults of the Group's assets.

For loans and receivables. The amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is directly
written down and the losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. Loans expected to be uncollectible are written off by deduction from the
relevant provision, and..any.-subsequerit'progeeds are recognised as revenues in the
statementof profit, and |oss./If 2 loan: or held to maturity investment has a variable
exchange "’[tat%;’th_e“di’{{qbuﬁtﬂrate_ for. measuring any impairment losses is the current
effective ihterest rate Adé‘té“rrﬂiiiéd‘;u"riz}er the: contract. As a practical expedient, the
Group ma}%i measure impgikmlenf})f the ﬁnarisg;ial asset on the basis of the asset’s fair
value using an observg@!?{@ark{"é{ prig:e.

OV VR e
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

J.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

If, in any subsequent period, the decrease in the impairment loss can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then (such
as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the recognised impairment loss is
directly reversed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each financial period whether there is objective
evidence that a specific financial asset or a group of financial assets may be impaired.

For debt instruments, if any such objective evidence of the asset impairment exists,
the consolidated loss — which is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of the
amortisation or settlement of the principal amount) and the fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the statement of
profit or loss — which was directly recognised in other comprehensive income items is
removed and recognised in the statement of profit and loss. If, in any subsequent
period, the fair value of any debt instrument increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
the statement of profit or loss, the Group reverses the impairment loss in the
statement of profit or loss.

For equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decrease in the fair value of the
investment below its acquisition cost is also objective evidence that the investment is
impaired. When the Group recognises decrease of fair value directly within other
comprehensive income items and there is objective evidence of the impairment of the
asset, the cumulative loss — which is the difference between the acquisition cost and
the fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss — which was directly recognized in other
comprehensive income items, shall be removed, and shall be recognised in the
statement of profit and loss. Impairment losses recognised in the profit or loss on
equity instrument investment are not reversed through the statement of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are evaluated at the lower of actual cost or net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average method and includes purchase cost and other
direct costs. The net realisable value comprises the estimated selling price in the
ordmary course of business, less sale expensgs Provnslon is made for slow moving

Cash and cash equlvalen s

8 .”/‘]‘. e ‘
For the purposes of preseqtmg ‘the consolldated ,statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash. on hand and bank balances with maturities less than
three months from the placement ds ate" " T

|
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

M.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, and it is more likely that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle these obligations; and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are
reviewed at the date of each consolidated financial position and adjusted to reflect the
best current estimate. Where the impact of the time value of money is significant, the
amount recognised as a provision should be the current amount of expected expenses
required to settle the liability.

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value of the goods and services
received from third parties and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method.

Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Borrowings

Loans are initially recorded at fair value less the cost of obtaining the loan. Loans are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, and
are recorded in the consolidated statement of profits or losses as the difference
between the amounts received (less the cost of obtaining the loan) and the value that
will be repaid over the borrowing period.

Loans and advances are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer the settlement of such liabilities for a period of not less
than 12 months after the date of the consolidated financial statements.

Borrowing cost

General borrowing or borrowing for the purpose of acquiring a qualifying asset to
bear the cost of borrowing, which is the asset that necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. The Group capitalises borrowing costs directly attributable to the establishment
or production of a qualifying asset as part of that asset’s cost until the completion of
all the material activities required for the preparation of the asset qualified for its
intended use or sale to a third party.

When funds are borrowed for, thé“‘pur‘pose offacquxrmg a qualifying asset to bear the
cost of borrowmg, ‘the” Gr'_‘p determmes thp amount of borrowing costs that are
capitalised on this: ‘asset ‘whichis-the dctual borrowmg costs incurred by the entity
during the penod because of the borrowing trahsactlon less any revenue realised from
the temporar,y mvestmeﬁt of borrowed funds.

A‘('f .‘n."; 4 i
R ,\,,,._.L.H,f il

The Group recogmses other: borrowmg “Costs as expenses in the period the Group

incurs such costs.
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

R.

Current and deferred income tax

Current income tax

- The Group’s current tax are calculated in accordance with the applicable Egyptia
laws and regulations.

- The Group is subject to corporate income tax. The Group uses tax advisers to
estimate the income tax provision. In case of differences between the final tax
outcomes with the initially recorded amounts, the resulting impact on income tax
and deferred tax are recognised in the year in which they occur.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is fully recognised using the liabilities method on temporary
differences between the tax value of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. The applicable tax rates are used to calculate
the deferred income tax.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Revenue recognition

The fair value of the consideration received or receivable including cash, receivables
and notes receivables arising from rendering the educational services is measured
through the ordinary course of the Group, stated net of discounts.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured,
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s.activities as described below.
The value of the revenue is not considered to be reliably measured except when the
expected obligations are settled. The Group bases its estimates on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customers, the type of transactions and the
specifics of each arrangement.

Revenues are recognized using the accrual basis.

Tuition revenues

The Group provides educational services to students through its owned schools.
Tuition revenues is reco; nised throughout the perrod of rendering the tuition services.

Bus revenues e :
The Group provrdes transport Servrees o students through its owned schools. Bus

revenues are*recogmsed throughout the period bf rendering the services.

Admission revenues DR AYAR' ¢4
Admission revenue, is. recogmsed ~-when* -applying for schools and recognised
throughout the perrod of rendering services.

+23 -
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

S.

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contracting revenues

Revenue is realized by using the (cost + profit margin) method according to the
contract concluded with the contracting companies. Actual costs consist of direct
costs from subcontractors.

Rental revenues
Rental revenues are recognized net of any discount allowed by the lessor using the
straight-line method over the period in which the lessee uses the leased asset.

Interests revenues

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest
method. When a receivable balance resulting from the recognition of interest is
impaired, the carrying amount will be reduced to its recoverable amount.

Lease

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained
by the lessor are classified as operating leases.

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in the consolidated statement
of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Employees' benefits

The Group pays contributions to the Public Authority for Social Insurance Plans on a
mandatory basis in accordance with the rules of Social Insurance Law. The Company
has no further liabilities once its liabilities are paid. The regular contributions are
recognised as periodic cost for the year in which they are due and are included in
employees' cost.

Employees’ profits share
According to the Companies Law, the Group pays 10% of its cash dividends to be
distributed to its employees amounting maximum of total salaries of the last financial
year before distribution. Employees' share of profit is recognised as dividends in
shareholders' equity and as liabilities when approved by the Shareholders’ (Group’s
companies) General Assembly. No liability is recognised in the employees’ share of
undistributed dividends.
'l

Fair value of financnal mstrume § -

Fair value is the prlce that would be obtamed to selI an asset or paid to convert a

liability in an orderly transaction ‘between market partlclpants at the measurement

date. The fair value measurement’is based on’the assumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or pay the llablllty takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

- Inthe absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market.
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

U.

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

The Group should be able to have access to the principal market or the most
advantageous market.

The fair value of the asset or liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants may use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants behave in their own economic interests.

The measurement of the fair value of a non-financial asset takes into account the
ability of the market participant to generate economic benefits by using the asset at its
maximum and best-selling to another market participant who will use the asset in its
best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and
where sufficient data are available to measure the fair value, increase the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of inputs that are not observable.

The fair value of all assets and liabilities is measured or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements and are included in the fair value hierarchy described below,
based on the lowest input levels that are material to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

- Level 1 - Market prices (unadjusted) prevailing in active markets for similar assets
or liabilities.

- Level 2 - Other valuation methods in which the lowest levels of inputs that have a
material effect on the measurement of fair values are observable, either directly or
indirectly.

- Level 3 - Valuation methods in which the lowest levels of inputs that have a
material effect on the measurement of fair values are not observable.

Segment reporting

Business segments are reported in accordance with internally submitted reports to
senior management which makes decisions on the resources allocation and
performance assessment of the Group's segments, and represented in the Group’s
central management committee. Group activities are divided into schools activities
and higher education activities.

Dividends |~ "0 :

Dividends are recogmsed in., the Grdhps xconsolldated financial statements in the
period in which the leldends are.. approved by the Parent Company’s General
Assembly of Shareholders. /- (* -

Comparative ﬁgures MATSEASL

Where consistent, comparative figures are reclassified to conform to the current
presentation.
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

3.

Financial risk management

(1)

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk
(foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall
risks management programme focuses on minimising potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance.

The Group's management aims to minimise the potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.

The Group does not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge specific risks.

(A)

Market risk

1. Foreign currency exchange rate risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of fluctuations in the fair value of future
cash flows of a financial instrument due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk on foreign currency positions,
mainly the US Dollar. Management concluded that the nature of its activities
are not significantly exposing the Group to foreign currencies risks. At the
end of the year, the net assets in the major foreign currencies denominated in
EGP was as follows:

Currency 31 August 2021 31 August 2020
USD - asset 8,084,967 20,637
GBP - asset © 40,140 -
Euro - asset 143,058 -
AED - asset 136,878 -

Note (27) shows the amounts that have been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss relating to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates.

At the end of the year, if the currencies price increased or decreased by 10%,
the effect on the consolidated financial statement net of related tax would be
as follows:

Currency . e I T 31 August 2021 ol angust 2020

USD |  Apifefldaclll b g0497 2,004

= o 4014 )

e frePeo ¢ 14,306 B

AED : »;‘ , Yoald : ve 5] 8 13,688 B
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

3. Financial risk management (continued)
)] Financial risk factors (continued)

(A) Market risk (continued)

2. Interest rate risks
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial
instruments will fluctuate due to changes in the market's interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow risk arising from changes in interest rates
of its assets and liabilities due after more than one year bearing variable
interest (bank deposits, credit facilities and Ijarah bonds). The Group
maintains an appropriate mix of fixed rate and floating rate loans to manage
the interest rate risk.

Note (16) shows the loans and credit facilities owed by the Group.

The below table shows the analysis of sensitivity to possible and reasonable
changes in interest rates, while holding the other variables constant, on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The sensitivity on the consolidated statement of profits or losses is the effect
of the assumed changes in the interest rates on the Group's results for one
year based on financial assets and liabilities with variable interest rates at the

end of the year:
Effect on consolidated

Increase profit or loss
(decrease) EGP
31 August 2021 300 points - 37,788,297
31 August 2020 300 points 15,224,426

(B) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from current accounts and bank deposits, as well as credit
risk associated with the Group’s customers represented in accrued revenues
and amounts due from related parties. The Group’s credit risk is managed as a
whole.

For banks, the Group deals with banks with high credit ratings and high credit
quality which are supervised by the Central Bank of Egypt. For customers,
management takes all legal arrangements and documents when the transaction
is executed by -the management to reduce the credit risk to a minimum,
specifically-for tradé recéivables. The Group collects most of its revenues in
advance before- prowdmg ‘the: educatlonal and other related services. All
necessary: provisions are formed to deal w1th each of customer delinquency
issues separately ' :
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

3. Financial risk management (continued)
(6} Financial risk factors (continued)

Accrued revenues balances that remain outstanding for more than one year
are fully impaired.

Below are the balances that are exposed to the credit risks:

31 August 2021 31 August 2020
Balances and deposits at banks 166,765,174 207,350,472
Due from related parties 17,156,705 16,726,489
Accrued revenues 51,980,697 28,243,104
Investment funds 65,271,351 -

© Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial liabilities
as they fall due, as a result of a shortage of funding. The Group's exposure to liquidity
risk results primarily from the lack of offset between maturities of financial assets and
liabilities.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, and the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of available credit facilities and
accreditation from related parties.

The management makes cash flow projections on a monthly basis, which are
discussed during the Parent Company’s Executive Committee meeting, and takes the
necessary actions to negotiate with suppliers, follow-up the collection process from
customers and manage the inventory balances in order to ensure sufficient cash is
maintained to discharge the Group's liabilities.

The following table shows the ageing of the Group's liabilities and based on
undiscounted future cash flows:

31 August 2021

Less than 3 months 1 yearto S
o= —three' months. . | to 1 year years

Loans and credit fa'lc‘:i‘l'i'tiesz e 45,281,438 112,388,340 671,953,040
Ijarah bonds f = P T - 600,000,000
Accrued expenses /. 118,180,718 - -
Dividends payables: gy 22427,059 | 5 -
Suppliers and contractors "' '~ 602,564,064 ' 52,262,345 391,101,533
Due to governmental-—="""""""""

agencies 15,949,007 32,223,197 -
Due to related parties 680,035 - -
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

3. Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

0y

@)

31 August 2020

Loans and credit facilities

Accrued expenses

Dividends payables

Suppliers and contractors

Due to governmental
agencies

Due to related parties

Capital risk management

Less than 3 months 1yearto$S
three months to 1 year years

5,269,170 78,432,388 537,963,273
61,332,004 -
21,915,686 - -
3,882,996 31,895,008 115,241,357
10,532,728 35,548,671 -
324,291 -

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders using the consolidated financial statements. The Company also

aims to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain optimal capital structure, the management may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, reduce capital, issue new shares of capital or

reduce the Group's due debts.

The Group’s management monitors the gearing ratio. The net debt represents the total
loans and credit facilities less cash on hand and balances at banks. The total capital
represents the Group’s total equity as shown in the consolidated statement of

financial position and net loans.

The following shows the gearing ratio.at-31 August 2021 and 31 August 2020:

o

Loans
[jarah bonds
Total debts

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

829,622,817

Less: Cash on hand and bélénces at banks

Net surplus of debts
Equity
Total capital

Gearing ratio

584,834,242

600,000,000 -
1,429,622,817 584,834,242
(236,425,186) (208,626,454)
1,193,197,631 376,207,788
1,342,818,762 1,102,905,553
2,536,016,393 1,479,113,341
47.05% 25.43%
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

3. Financial risk management (continued)

&)

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets or liabilities with maturities less than one year is
assumed to approximate their nominal value less any estimated credit settlements. For
variable interest rate long-term loans, the fair value also approximates the nominal
value as they are at variable interest associated with the corridor rate declared by the
Central Bank of Egypt.

4. Ceritical accounting estimates and judgements

¢y

(2)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Estimates and assumptions are evaluated based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will rarely equal the actual results. The following are the
significant estimates and assumptions used by the Group:

A) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, and it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle these obligations; and the amount can be reliably estimated. The
group reviews the provision at the date of each financial position and adjusts it to
show the best present estimate after taking the appropriate advice from an expert.

(B) _Impairment of goodwill

The group's management evaluates goodwill annually to determine any impairment in
goodwill. The carrying amount of goodwill is reduced if it is higher than the expected
recoverable amount.~Goodwill 1mpa1rment losses are charged to the consolidated
statement of proﬁts or losses and cannot be subsequently reversed.

1.

(C) _Impairment of due révenues - P
Impairment of accrued revefiues*is estimated by momtormg the ageing of debts and
the ratios adopted based on, managements best estimate through their experience.
Accrued revenues balances that remain outstandmg for more than one year are fully
impaired.

Critical judgement in applying the Group's accounting policies

Generally, applying the Group's accounting policies does not require the management
to use the personal judgement (other than the judgement related to the accounting
estimates and assumptions referred to in the Note 4-1), as such judgement could have
a material effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

7. Works in progress

31 August 2021 31 August 2020
Cairo Heights project - Residential buildings 21,581,907 21,581,907
21,581,907 21,581,907
8. Investments in associates
Shareholding
percentage
2021 2020 31 August 2021 31 August 2020
New Soft Company 23% 23% 303,835 303,835
Perdive for Programming
Company 48.5% 48.5% 255,000 255,000
Innovvette for Education 51% - 5,600,000 -
Egyptians Health Care
Company* 25% 25% 97,254,624 80,513,658
103,413,459 81,072,493
Less:
Impairment losses in associates (558.835) (303.835)
102,854,623 80,768,658

During the year, 51% of Innovvette for Education was acquired and the investment was classified as

an investment in associates.

During the year, the capital of the Egyptians for Healthcare Services was increased and the Group's

shareholding ratios in the company did not change.

Below are the summarised financial information-of significant associates:

Countryof |~/ N

Company’s  Total .~ 1 Total Total Loss for

head office’ ' - Assets equity Revenues the year
Egyptians Health Care ] PR T
Company Egypt 343877817 219,773,368 - (6,614,355)
Innovvette for Education Egypt.— 7,931,829 7,731,875 421,225  (3,268,125)

All financial investments in associates are not listed in any financial securities market.
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

9. Unconsolidated subsidiaries

The historical cost of investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries is as follows:

International Health Care Company
Alex Company For Educational Services

Less: Impairment

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

1,126,285 1,126,285
325,000 325,000
1,451,285 1,451,285
(1,451,285) (1,451,285)

These entities have not been consolidated as the value of these investments have been fully impaired
during the past years. Those entities have discontinued their activities and there are no liabilities to be

incurred by the Group.

10. Inventories

Computer and electrical equipment inventory

There is no indications of impairment in the value of the inventory during the year.

11. Debtors and other debit balances

Paid under land purchase account

Paid under investment in associates account
Accrued revenues

Advances to suppliers

Assets against specific-purpose | llabllmes
Due from related parties (Note 28)

Prepaid expenses )

Withholding taxes

Other debit balances \‘T; : frei” -

Less: Impairment in debtors and other debit balances

Less: Non-current portion
Paid under land purchase account

-36-

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

13,016,332

7,253,985

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

117,946,243 68,733,131
97,316,160 14,141,846
51,980,977 28,243,104
154,381,983 28,301,280
35,000,000 35,000,000
17,156,697 16,726,489
16,427,711 16,886,374
5,010,409 3,737,436
13,932,241 17,961,646
509,152,421 229,731,306
(19,637,513) (7,734,925)
489,514,908 221,996,381
(117,946,243) (68,733,131)

371,568,665 153,263,250
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

11. Debtors and other debit balances (continued)

The movement of the impairment of debtors and other debit balances during the year is represented

below:
31 August 2021 31 August 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year 7,734,925 7,135,728
Formed during the year 16,616,312 5,696,052
Utilized during the year (1,353,574) (156.479)
Provisions no longer required during the year (3,360,150) (4,940,376)
Balance at the end of the year 19,637,513 7,734,925

- At 31 August 2021, accrued revenue balances, due from related parties that are not impaired
amounted of EGP 49,500,169 (31 August 2020: EGP 37,234,669).

- At 31 August 2021, debtors and other debit balances subject to impairment amounted to EGP
19,637,513 (31 August 2020: EGP 7,734,925).

- The amount of assets against liabilities for specific purposes in exchange for potential tax
settlements resulting from the acquisition of Star Light Company, including its subsidiary, as
mentioned in the acquisition contract, represents that the seller party bears any payable tax
liabilities prior to the acquisition date. Whereas the management believes that the flow of
benefits from this asset is expected according to the contract, this amount has been recorded in
debtors and other debit balances item. A similar amount was recorded within provisions (Note
21) to demonstrate the potential tax liabilities that were assessed by the independent financial
advisor upon acquisition.

- The payment item under the land purchase account is in advance payments for the purchase of lands
in Asyout city, New Sohaj city, Damietta city and Badr city.

- Paid under purchase of investments item represents the amounts paid under the account of the
purchase of investments in subsidiaries or associates. This item includes an amount of EGP
43,755,724 paid under the account of purchasing an additional 20% of the shares of Starlight
Company - the main shareholder in Canadian British Columbia International School as part of a
plan to purchase all of the Company's shares in the future. -, |

A <
Yo N

12. Cash on hand and at bz‘f_nkis A endis ) Bl == K

T
% g BLY

31 August 2021 31 August 2020

Current accounts at banks 112,760,746 181,947,439

Term deposits 54,004,427 4,302,999
Cash Investment fund 65,271,351 21,100,034
Cash on hand 4,388,660 1,275,982

236,425,186 208,626,454

Current accounts at banks and time deposits are deposited with local banks under the supervision of
Central Bank of Egypt.

The deposits are due within periods of 90 days from date of placement, and are subject to interest
rates 0f 9,75% (31 August 2020:

9,75%) annually Also, interest rates of current accounts reached 8,25% annually (31 August 2020:

8,25% annually).
«37:x
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

12. Cash on hand and at banks (continued)

For the purposes of preparation the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
are included as of the date of the financial position:

31 August 2021 31 August 2020

Cash on hand and balances at banks 236,425,186 208,626,454
Retained cash at banks (7.402) (7.402)
236,417,784 208,619,052

13. Share Capital

The authorized capital is set at EGP 500,000,000. The issued capital was set at EGP 233,116,130
distributed on 582,790,325 shares, each amounting to EGP 0.40, all of which are fully paid cash
shares.

The shareholder structure as at 31 August 2021 and 31 August 2020 is as follows:

Shareholding Nominal
percentage value
Social Impact Capital "L.L.C" 51.22% 119,395,130
Others 48.78% 113,721,000
233,116,130

14. Reserves

The following table shows the movement on reserves during the year: |
an 31 August 2021

W ... Formed

| /" Balance at'1 .20 “during the Balance at

September year 31 August
Legal reserve 116,558,065 ¢ ' - 116,558,065
Statutory reserve 19,834,444, - 19,834,444
Special reserve 92,667,112 = 92,667,112
Reserve resulting from foreign
currency translation 211,583 123,916 335,499
Total 229,271,204 123,916 229,395,120

=38




t/ i ] CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
? AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

] (All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)
r 14. Reserves (continued)
: ] 31 August 2020
= Formed
Balance at 1 during the Balance at 31

E ] September year August
Legal reserve 116,558,065 - 116,558,065
7 Statutory reserve 13,312,868 6,521,576 19,834,444
] Special reserve 92,667,112 . 92,667,112
F Reserve resulting from foreign

currency translation - 211,583 211,583

Total 222,538,045 6,733,159 229,271,204

Legal and statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law No. 159 of 1981 and the Parent Company's Articles of
Association, 5% of the net profit for the year is set aside and transferred to the legal reserve. Provision
formation will be discontinued when the legal reserve reaches 50% of the issued and authorized
capital of the Company.

s ] SR

Also, at least 5% of the profit has to be set aside and transferred to the statutory reserve, until the
reserve reaches 25% of the Parent Company’s issued capital, and when the reserve is decreased, the
said deduction shall be returned. On 30 May 2020, Article (56) of the Company’s Articles of
Association was amended to discontinue the deduction of the statutory reserve from profits.

- L -

15. Loans and credit facilities
Current portion : Non-current portion
E - 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
j Statement 2021 2020 .. 2021 2020
E QNB Al Ahli bank - credit = e Pl ‘
l facility o 11,553,347 - 20,091,430 - -
9 European Bank loan 90,560,875 - 362,253,500 223,404,375
Ahli United Bank loan % 33,333,333, v 3 - 265,255,095 74,484,185
E QNB Al Ahli bank loan (1) 122,222222 . 22:220.002 ' 44,444,445 66,666,667
| j QNB Al Ahli bank loan (2) } Liov 722933935 - 108,012,126
5 International Company for , i e
L Finance Lease loan o - 11,793,074 - 34,913,506
s Upper Egypt Finance lease
3 loan - 312,722 - -
157,669,777 77,353,383 671,953,040 507,480,859

Credit facilities from QNB Al Ahli bank have an interest rate ofl.5% above the corridor price
announced by the Central Bank.

-39.
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

15. Loans and credit facilities (continued)

QNB Al Ahli bank loan (1)

On 30 May 2019, the Company signed a contract for a medium term loan of EGP 100 million for the
purpose of constructing new faculties in Badr University that is 100% owned by the Company. The
contract ends on 31 August 2024. The loan is to be repaid on 9 semi-annual instalments of equal value
in addition to the related interests that will be determined at an interest rate of 1.5% above the lending
rate announced by the Central Bank of Egypt.

The balance of this loan as of 31 August 2021 amounted to EGP 66,666,667 (31 August 2020: EGP
88,888,889).

QNB Al Ahli bank loan (2)

On 8 November 2019, the Company signed a contract for a medium term loan of EGP 130 million for
the purpose of using it in partially finance for the remaining projects of the Company’s expansion
plan, which is to establish new seven faculties in Badr University and a school in the new city of Al
Mansoura. The contract ends on 31 August 2026. The loan is to be repaid on 12 instalments semi-
annually of equal value in May and August, in addition to the applicable interest. The first instalment
is due on the last day of May 2021, followed by the second instalment on the last day of August 2021,
and so on, respectively and periodically, every six-months until the maturity date of the eleventh and
final instalments that is due on 31 August 2026.

On 31 December 2020, the Company paid the total loan amount, amounting to EGP 130 million, as an
expedited payment in addition to the related interest.

The principal conditions and guarantees of the above loans are:

- Transfer all income generated from operations of the schools and Badr University to a special
account with the lending bank and is used as an additional repayment method for the principal
and interest.

- Dividends are not to be distributed unless all loans related obligations for distribution year are
fulfilled.

- Assets are not to be sold, mortgaged, or given to third partles without obtaining a written
approval from the bank.

- Shareholders' equity in the consolidated- finaticial statements should not be less than EGP 420
million. Maintain financial leverage ratio (total habllmes/ equnty) below 1.2: 1. and the debt
service rate (earnings before mterest tax and deprecxatlon/ total ﬁnancnal liabilities) above 1% :
1.

- Not to obtain any loans or credit famlmes thho_ut«obtalmng a wrltten approval from the bank.

Ahli United Bank loan ‘ S e =

On 14 January 2020, the Company s1gned a contract for a medlum term loan of EGP 100 for the
purpose of future expansions in establishing schools and new faculties in Badr University that is fully
owned by the Company. The contract amount increased to EGP 200 million as a second instalment.
The contract ends on 31 August 2024. The loan is to be repaid on 9 semi-annual instalments of equal
value, to be repaid starting from February 2022. However, the Company is still paying the related
interests, during the year, that will be calculated at an interest rate of 1,25% above the lending rate
announced by the Central Bank of Egypt with a grace period of one year without ary administrative
expenses.

The balance of this loan at 31 August 2021 amounted to EGP 298,588,428 (31 August 2020: EGP
74,484,185).

-40- .
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CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

15. Loans and credit facilities (continued)

Principal conditions and guarantees

- Submitting to the bank the collateral guarantees from the following companies: Upper Egypt
Educational Services, Emco for Systems and Computers, Global Educational Technologies, and
Educational Systems International, provided that each guarantee covers the full amount of the
finance granted by the bank under this contract,

- Submitting to the bank every six-months the commercial register extract of the Company,
explaining that there are no mortgages on its assets.

- Opening an operating account with the bank, the first party, to collect all revenues related to the
funded schools and the revenues resulting from the expansion of Badr University, that have been
funded by the bank.

- Submitting to the bank a written undertaking signed by the legal representative of Badr
University to transfer the net surplus resulting from its activity to the Company to cover any
financial liabilities payable on the Company throughout the duration of the finance granted by the
bank, according to the budget of the University.

- Submitting to the bank a quarterly financial report within 90 days of the end of each quarter of
the financial year of the borrowing Company and the guarantors. The Company is also
committed to achieving the financial terms in all consolidated financial positions and budgets
provided to the bank throughout the duration of the finance as follows:

(1) The debt service rate (total cash flows from operating activities in addition to depreciation and
amortisation less tax divided by annual financial payments in addition to the annual dividends)
should not fall below X 1.15.

(2) The financial leverage (total bank borrowings divided by net shareholders' equity) should not
exceed X 1.5.

International Company for Finance Lease loan (Incolease)

On 23 February 2010, the Parent Company signed a preliminary contract with Incolease to obtain a
finance lease of EGP 31,9 million for sale and leaseback of a plot owned by the Company at an
interest rate equal to the lending rate announced by the Central Bank of Egypt. Payable over 84
monthly instalments provided that the due date of the first instalment is 3 May 2010. Since this
transaction does not qualify in its substance to be sale and leaseback transaction as it represent a
collateralised loan by the asset "the plot of land "-and since this transaction is outside the scope of
EAS 20 " Accounting rules and standards relating to finance lease " the transaction was not
considered as a sale and leaseback, instead, it was regarded ds a loan agreement subject to the above
mentioned conditions. : N L |

On 13 October 2019, an adjustment contract was signed with Incolease Company for Finance Lease
and in accordance with the previous contract on May 2016 to obtain-a-loan of EGP 84,797,280. The
loan amount includes interest amounted to EGP 5,917, and that the loan instalments are repaid over
60 months and expire on 20 September 2024, and interest payment of 14% from the date of signing
the contract. It changes with an increase or decrease according to the borrowing price announced by
the Central Bank of Egypt, within an equivalent to 2,5% above the official lending rate from the
Central Bank. The Company obtained the second tranche of the loan under the same terms mentioned
above. The total balance of the loan as of 31 August 2020 was EGP 46,706,580. On 12 January 2021,
the Company paid the remainder of the loan amount, amounting to EGP 47 million, as an expedited
payment.

-41 -




CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

15. Loans and credit facilities (continued)

European Bank loan

On 30 September 2019, the Company signed a contract for a medium term loan of EGP 452 million.
The first instalments was injected on 19 September 2019, and the second instalment was injected
within three months from 31 August 2020 for the purpose of purchasing a new land in Assiut to
establish faculties related to Badr University - Assiut and the establishment of stage 1 of the
University fully owned by the Company. The contract ends on 30 September 2027. The loan is to be
repaid on 12 semi-annual instalments of equal value. However, the Company is still paying the related
interests, during the current year, that will be calculated at an interest rate of 2% above the lending
rate announced by the Central Bank of Egypt with a grace period of two years.

The balance of this loan at 31 August 2021 amounted to EGP 452,814,375 (31 August 2020: EGP
223,404,375).

Principal conditions and guarantees

- Theratio of debt service coverage that the cash available for debt service for a period of 12
months before the repayment date to the total principal payments of the repayment on all
outstanding financial debts to be ratio of 1:1.2.

- The net financial debts should not exceed 3 times the profits before interest, tax and depreciation.

- The ratio of debt should not exceed 1.3 of the total equity.

- The borrower undertakes that the contribution of the guarantor in the revenues and profits before
interest, tax and depreciation should not be less than 50%.

Upper Egypt Finance lease loan

During the eight-months ended 31 August 2016, Upper Egypt Leasing Company financed the
purchase of some of the property, plant and equipment of Cairo for Investment and Real Estate
Development Company under the two financing contracts dated 12 August 2015 and 18 August 2015,
provided that both contracts commence on 1 January 2016.

Since the financing was made in cash, this transaction is not considered as a finance lease and outside
the scope of EAS “20”, "Accounting Standards and Regulation related to the finance lease", this
transaction is treated as a loan granted to the Parent Company and is recognized in accordance with
EAS 26 “Financial Instruments - Recognition and measurement.

The amounts financed for both contracts amounted to EGP 3,156,160 including interest and payable
over 60 instalments. The total due balance of thls loan at 31 August 2021 amounted to EGP zero (31
August 2020: EGP 312.722). -

A2 =




CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

16. Ijarah bonds

31 August 2021 31 August 2020
Ijarah bonds 600,000,000
Bonds issuance cost (12,343,129)
587,656,871

On 29 December 2020, the Company issued Ijarah bonds compliant with the provisions of Islamic
Sharia, negotiable and non-convertible for shares on a single issue amounting to EGP 600 million
with the purpose of recovering investment costs and using them in the Group's activities for future
expansions in the higher education and pre-university education sector and to pay off the Group’s
financial liabilities including its liabilities towards the lending banks. 6 million bonds were issued
with a nominal value of 100 per bond, and the period of issuance is 84 months starting from January
2021. The rental value of bonds is to be paid in 10 equal semi-annual instalments starting from 30
April 2023 until the end of the issuance period on 31 October 2027.

The bonds were issued with a guarantee of a land and buildings of four schools owned by the Group,
which are the land and buildings of Future French /German International Languages School in Rehab
city, the land and buildings of Futures Language School - Rehab city, the land and buildings of
Futures Girls Elementary School (1) and (2), and the land and buildings of Othman Ibin Affan School
- Rehab city. These assets subject of bonding were valued at a fair value of EGP 878,743,896, which
represents a ratio of 1:1,46 of the total value of the issued bonds. The school buildings mentioned
above are insured against theft and fire.

The variable return of these bonds is calculated in Egyptian pounds based on the lending rate
announced by the Central Bank of Egypt in addition to the 0.75% margin ratio, provided that the
announced lending rate is reviewed by the Central Bank of Egypt every six months. The return shall
be paid semi-annually on 30 April and 31 October of each year until the end of the issuance period on
31 October 2027.

In implementing the bonds issuance process, the following contracts were concluded:

a) A contract of sale and purchase of the assets subject of bonding has been concluded to the
bonding company in exchange for payment of the purchase price from the entire proceeds of
subscribing to the bonds.

b) A leasing contract for the assets subject of bonding has been concluded whereby thc bonding
company is obligated to lease the assets subject to the bonding mentioned above to the Group as a
lessee for the duration of the issuance period in exchange for a rental value paid by the Group to
the bonding company according to the payment terms mentiohed above.

c) Purchase and sell contracts has been concluded whereby upon the expiry of the lease term, the
assets subject of bonding will be resold to the Group. '

d) A service agency contract was concluded between the bonding company and the Group according
to which the Group was authorized to act as'a' management agent of the assets subject of bonding.

These assets have not been derecognised from the books of the Group, due to the lack of conditions

for derecognition of the assets, including the non-transfer of control over the leased assets to the

bonding company and the Group’s continuity in managing these assets.
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16. Ijarah bonds (continued)

The cost item for issuing bonds represents the professional financial expenses and consultancy fees
required to issue the bonds. This item is depreciated over the period of issuance mentioned above. The

movement in the cost of issuing the bonds is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year

Bonds issuance cost

Amortization of bonds issuance cost (Note 27)
Balance at the end of the year

17. Creditors and other credit balances

Due to suppliers and contractors
Accrued expenses

Due to government agencies
Dividends payables

Due to related parties (Note 28)
Other credit balances

Less: Non-current portion
Due to suppliers and contractors - non-current portion*

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

13,642,406
(1,299,277)

12,343,129

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

1,066,710,916 151,019,361
118,483,259 61,332,004
48,172,203 44,244,429
22,427,059 21,915,686
680,035 324,291
27,747,833 39,712,489
1,284,221,305 318,548,260
(676,576,293) (94,805,855)
607,331,576 223,742,405

* 5 new lands have been purchased as part of the expansion of the Company's activities and the
establishment of new schools. A land was purchased in the New Mansoura city amounting to EGP
25 million, 50% of its value was paid, and the rest will be paid in two annual instalments ending on
30 June 2022. A land was purchased. in Badr City-amounting to EGP 873 million , 15% of its value
was paid and the rest will be paid in 20 semi-annual instalments ending on 12 February 2031. A land
was purchased in the New Alamein City amounting to EGP 31 million, 20% of its value was paid,
and the rest will be paid in 8 semi-annual instalments ending on 2 June 2024. A new land was
purchased in Badr city for the purpose of expanding the University land amounting to EGP 147
million, 25% of its value was paid, and the rest will be paid in 10 semi-annual instalments ending on

January 2026.

18. Advance revenues

Advance revenues represent the part of revenues that the Group has collected and has not provided the

educational services related to it yet.

Advance revenues
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19. Income tax

31 August 2021

Income tax charged to the consolidated statement of profits or losses for the year is as follows:
31 August 2020

Current income tax 129,055,586 82,830,943
Deferred tax (Note 20) 906,273 757,736
Total 129,961,859 83,588,679

tax rate applicable to the Group's profits as follows:
31 August 2021

Tax on the profit before taxes differs from the amount expected to be reached by applying the average

31 August 2020

Accounting profit before tax 460,779,739 350,839,758
Income tax based on prevailing tax rates 103,675,439 78,938,946
Add (less):
Non-deductible expenses 15,553,790 4,640,870
Non-taxable income 1,169,407 (745.568)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 9,563,223 1,084,431
Tax differences for previous years - (330.000)
Tax as per the statement of profit or loss 129,961,859 83,588,679

Current income tax liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position:
31 August 2021

31 August 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year 84,156,700 66,104,436
Payments during the year (82,830,938) (64,790,066)
Tax differences for previous years - (330.777)
Cost of assets resulting from subsidiaries acquisition - 354,925
Withholding taxes - (12.761)
Charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss '
during the year 1 129,055,586 82,830,943
Balance at the end of the year - ; ( 130,381,348 84,156,700
20. Deferred tax liabilitiesz’_ L o A b
Deferred tax liabilities comprises temporary differences attributable to fixed assets:
,Bélaﬂce at Movément for Balance at
1 September 2020 the year 31 August 2021

Fixed assets 34,262,888 906,273 35,169,161

34,262,888 906,273 35,169,161

Balance at Movement for  Acquisition of Balance at

1 September 2019 the year subsidiaries 31 August 2020
Fixed assets 3,934,028 757,736 29,571,124 34,262,888
3,934,028 757,736 29,571,124 34,262,888
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21. Provisions
31 August 2021 31 August 2020
Provision for taxes 87,872,874 69,524,912
Provision for legal claims 1,054,383 1,078,183
88,927,257 70,603,095

The movement of provisions during the year is as follows:
31 August 2021

Balance at the Formed during Utilised Balance at the
beginning of the year the year during the year _end of the year
Provision for taxes 69,524,912 20,787,822 (2,439,860) 87,872,874
Provision for legal
claims 1,078,183 - (23.800) 1,054,383
70,603,095 20,787,822 (2,463,660) 88,927,257
31 August 2020
Balance at Formed Utilised Balance at
the beginning  during the Acquired during the  the end of the
of the year year provisions * year year
Provision for
taxes 33,894,091 2,700,682 37,447,502 (4,517,363) 69,524,912
Provision for
legal claims 1,147,933 - - (69.750) 1,078,183
35,042,024 2,700,682 37,447,502 (4,587,113) 70,603,095

* The amount of the provisions acquired represents the formed provisions in the associates acquired
during the year in addition to the consideration for potential tax settlements resulting from the

acquisition of Starlight Company, including its subsidiary. This amount was recorded
and other debit balances (Note 11), and.a-similar amount was recorded under
demonstrate the potential tax liabilitiés that were assessed by the independent financia
acquisition. e o= o b

Provision for taxes i S
Tax provisions have been formed in the current period and prior years against actual
addition to estimated tax provisions against uninspected prior years.

under debtors
provisions to
I advisor upon

tax claims in

The tax provision on tax claims actually received dnd expected taxes for previous years that have not
yet been inspected amounted to EGP 87,872,874 (31 August 2020: EGP 69,524,912) based on

management estimates and the independent external tax advisor of the Group.

If the estimations related to formed provisions have changed by 10% (increase or
impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss will be EGP 8,787,287 increase o
August 2020: EGP 6,952,491).
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21. Provisions (continued)

Provision for legal claims

Provision for lawsuits at 31 August 2021 amounted EGP 1,054,383 (31 August 2020: EGP 1,078,183)
based on the Group’s legal advisor’s estimations. The provision is adjusted for each amendment per

each case separately.

If the estimations related to formed provisions have changed by 10% (increase or decrease), the
impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss will be EGP 105.438 increase or decrease (31

August 2020: EGP 107,818).

22. Operating revenues

Tuition revenues

Bus revenues

Admission revenues
Contracting revenues
Other operating revenues

23. Operating cost

Salaries, wages and benefits

Depreciation expenses -
Maintenance, electricity, utilities and.communications
expenses A AL Lo
Transportation expenses - -

Teaching tools, aids and books expenses '
Professional and other consultation fees and charges
Leases :

Contracting expenses

Other expenses
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31 August 2021

31 August 2020

1,277,231,374 939,645,695
21,015,160 35,068,989
31,124,717 21,601,121

- 29,099,265
61,210,427 62,498,366
1,390,581,678 1,087,913,436

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

313,463,968 256,509,310
99,448,777 75,989,744

¢ 34,366,218 34,576,616
126,966,919 31,778,007
124,335,865 24,398,737
22,787,666 25,176,664
19,642,784 14,706,692

= 19,984,938

37,703,202 47,749,413
578,715,399 530,870,121
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24. General and administrative expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits

Professional and consulting fees, charges
Maintenance, electricity, utilities and
communications expenses

Impairment losses on debtors and other debit
balances

Depreciation expenses

Takaful contribution

Salaries and allowances for Board and committees
members and board of trustees

Operating and financing leases

Impairment losses of investments in associates
Other expenses

25. Expenses by nature

Salaries, wages and benefits

Depreciation expenses

Professional and consulting fees, charges, and penalties
Maintenance, electricity, utilities and communications
expenses

Transportation expenses

Teaching tools, aids and books expenses

Leases

Impairment losses on debtors and other debit balances
Takaful contribution

Salaries and allowances for Board and commlttees = ‘

members and board of trustees

Impairment losses of i mvestments n- assomates
Contracting expenses

Other expenses
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31 August 2021

31 August 2020

130,976,568 86,037,073
34,909,278 30,174,922
17,239,645 12,192,942
16,616,312 4,812,352

2,458,889 2,414,906
2,104,430 1,363,909
1,361,439 1,277,239
1,143,071 1,454,657
255,000 -
26,288,903 16,273,337
233,353,535 156,001,337

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

444,440,536 342,546,383
101,907,666 78,404,650
57,696,943 55,351,586
51,605,866 46,769,558
26,966,919 31,778,007
24,335,864 24,398,737
20,785,855 16,161,349
16,616,312 4,812,352
2,104,430 1,363,909

: 1,361,439 1,277,239
255,000 2
i - 19,984,938
63,992,104 64,022,750
812,068,934 686,871,458
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26. Other income

Profits from change in fair value of investment funds

Variable leases
Gas station lease

Profits of reversal of provisions
Gains (losses) on sale of fixed assets
Miscellaneous income

27. Net finance (costs) income

Interest revenues

Amortization of bonds issuance cost
Losses from foreign currency differences

Interest expenses

28. Related party transactions

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

13,914,305 1,100,459
1,697,786 1,387,464
1,552,436 1,478,520
1,353,574 -

1,638 (537)
3,527,651 1,173,988
22,047,390 5,140,431

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

24,847,612 15,171,537
(1,299,277) :
(186.892) (546.220)
(142,354,016) (67,267,286)
(118,992,573) (52,641,969)

During the year, the Group has made some transactions with related parties represented in the main
shareholder of the Group, its associates and some entities that are owned by the major shareholders.
Outstanding balances from and to related parties resulting from these transactions are as follows:

Balances due from related parties:

The Company

Parent Company
Associates
Others

Balances due to related parties

The Company

Others

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

b

9,000,000 -

. 3,472,175 2,720,991

. 4,684,530 14,005,498
] 17,156,697 16,726,489

31 August 2020

31 August 2021
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28. Related party transactions (continued)

Related party transactions during the vear:

Egyptians Health Care Company

Contributions of share capital

Transferred to investments in subsidiaries and associates
Cash transfers

Mafrix Company

Bank transfers

Social Impact Capital
Bank transfers

Future for Educational Activities
Proceeds of tuition revenues
Tuition expenses

Management consideration

Cash transfers

Others

Key management compensation:

Movement

31 August 2021

31 August 2020

(4,499,500)

(338.986)

9,000,000

2,673,848
(1,776,206)
(55.004)
(319.014)

355,744

23,347,333
(23,347,333)
4,559,683

(7,615,161)

2,086,777
(2,172,525)
(43.407)

202,880

The charges of the key management of the Company during the period and the charged to the profit or
loss statement on 31 August 2021 amounted to EGP 10,358,924 (31 August 2020: EGP 9,865,642).

29- Non-controlling interests

The movement of non-controlling interests in ‘stibsidiaries included in the ?onsolidated financial

statements during the year is as follows:

‘Share l

Balance at 1 September 2020 ‘

Non-controlling interests of acquired companies
Dividends

Currency differences resulting from foreign
currency translation

Profit for the year

Balance at 31 August 2021

Retained 31 August
- capital earnings 2021
44,980,334 73,271,027 118,251,361
20,021,250 - 20,021,250
- (15,624,089) (15,624,089)
- 82,611 82,611
- 22,243,513 22,243,513
64,990,334 62,785,013 127,775,347
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29- Non-controlling interests (continued)

Share Retained 31 August

capital earnings 2020
Balance at 1 September 2019 44,969,084 11,401,279 56,370,363
Non-controlling interests of acquired companies - 37,962,739 37,962,739
Dividends - (5,908,139) (5,908,139)
Currency differences resulting from foreign
currency translation - 141,056 141,056
Profit for the year - 12,486,043 12,486,043
Balance at 31 August 2020 44,969,084 56,082,978 101,052,062

30. Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and acquisitions during the period and it represents
the difference arising between the consideration paid in the subsidiaries, the non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the fair value of net assets of subsidiaries at the acquisition date. It represents the
acquiree payments for future economic benefits of assets that can not be identified individually or
recognized separately. The goodwill is as follows:

31 August 2021 31 August 2020

Egyptian Education Systems 5,133,061 5,133,061
Educational Systems International 355,800 355,800
Global Educational Technologies 238,666 238,666
Cairo Educational Services 157,018 157,018
Cairo Misr for Educational Facilities 51,936 51,936
Star Light Company 28,171,629 28,171,629
34,108,110 34,108,110

(Less):
Goodwill related to companies under liquidation (5,133,061) (5,133,061)
e 28,975,049 28,975,049

For the goodwill impairment testing burposés'; each subsidiary. is considered a cash generating unit
During the year, the management conducted a goodwill impairment test based on the “value in use”.
Below is summary for the significant assumptions employed by the management for the purpose of
testing goodwill value: ' s Rl f

Growth rate 3%
Discount rate  15%

Management used the estimated budgets approved by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors. The

value in use exceeded the carrying amount of the entities and no impairment of goodwill have resulted
for any of the cash generating units.
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30. Goodwill (continued)

- On 21 April 2019, the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting of the Egyptian Education
Systems Company resolved to agree to put the company under liquidation, provided that the
liquidation period is one year, starting from the date of the notification of the resolution to put the
company under liquidation in the commercial register, and it was approved to appoint Mr./
Mohamed Naguib Salah El-Din, the liquidator of the Company. As Cairo Investment and Real
Estate Development Company owns 100% of the Egyptian Education Systems Company , Cairo
Investment and Real Estate Development Company will acquire all of these assets.
This resulted in impairment of its goodwill of EGP 5,133,061 on 31 August 2019.

- On 26 June 2019, the Group purchased 60% of the shares of Star Light (owner of Canadian
Columbia International School) under the agreement signed with W.D. Capital Company. The
control of the Group was transferred on 1 September 2019. The Group expects that this acquisition
will result in an increase in its market share and future economic benefits. This transaction resulted
in goodwill of EGP 28,171,629.

The following table shows the consideration transferred to acquire Star Light Company, and the fair
value of the acquired assets, liabilities and non-controlling interest at the date of acquisition.

Acquisition cost at 1 September 2019
Cash paid (100,000,000)
Total acquisition cost (100,000,000)

Assets and liabilities acquired from Star Light Company for Educational Services and its subsidiaries
on 1 September 2019 were as follows:

EGP
Fixed assets 190,346,554
Other debit balances ; 5,606,125
Cash at banks 9,754,516
Deferred tax liabilities (29,571,124)
Other liabilities (66,344,961)
Net fair value of assets acquired 109,791,110
Non-controlling interests at.the date ofacquisition . - (37,962,739)
Cash paid o 2 N s T (100,000,000)
Goodwill N T v L 28,171,629

The following is the earning per share taking int6 account an increase in the capital that was indicated
in the commercial register issued on 17 Decembe‘r 2018:

31 August 2021 31 August 2020

Net profits for the year 308,574,367 254,765,036
Board of Directors’ expected remuneration (20,784,299) (24,310,923)
Employees’ expected profit share (28,779,007) (23,045,412)

259,011,061 207,408,701
Weighted average number of shares 582,790,325 582,790,325
Earnings per share for the year 0,44 0,35
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32.

)

Tax position

Cairo Education Services “S.A.E”

Corporate tax

The Company was inspected from 1998 until 1999 and due tax was paid.

The Company were discretionary inspected for the years from 2000 until 2004 at a total tax of
EGP 5,793,131. The Company was notified of Forms (18 and 19) Corporate tax and they were
appealed wrthm the legal deadlines and dispute is still pending before the Internal Committee.

The Company was not inspected from 2005 to 2008. The Company submits the tax returns
regularly within the legal deadlines and pays the due tax based on the tax returns submitted on the
legal deadlines and years from 2005 until 4 May 2008.

The net profit of schools activity is exempted from the corporate income tax in accordance with
Law No. 91 0f 2005.

The Company was inspected from 2009 to 2010 and due tax was paid.

Years from 2011 to 31 August 2021, the Company was not inspected until the financial statements
date.

Withholding tax
The Company is committed to applying the withholding tax under tax regulations as per Law No. 91

0f2005.

Salaries tax

The Company is committed to applying the withholding tax and pays it monthly in accordance
with the Tax Law No. 91 of 2005.

Quarterly tax returns are filed regularly and the Company pays the tax on the legal dates.

The Company paid the tax due until 2004.

The Company was notified of a salaries tax claim for the period from 1 January 2005 to 30 June
2005, and the Company was notified of Form no. 36 of salaries for the period from 1 July 2005 to
31 December 2011 and they were appealed within the legal deadlines and the dispute still pending
before the Internal Committee.

Years from 1 January 2012 to 31 August 2021, the Company was not inspected until the financial
statements date.

=g

Stamp tax

The Company paid the tax.due, until 30 November 2003 :

The Company was notified of’ Form No. 3 Stamp- for the perlod from 1 February 2003 to 28
February 2006, with a total tax of EGP 74,599. The form was objected upon within the legal date
and was referred to the Appeals Committee, and the dlspute is st1ll pending until the date of the
preparation of the financial statements. ' :

The Company was notified of Form No.'3 Stamp for the period from 1 March 2006 until 30 June
2010. It was appealed on the legal deadline and referred to the Appeal Committee. Final
assessment to the decision of the Appeal Committee was made on 23 November 2014 at a total tax
of EGP 14,798. Payment was made on 29 January 2015.

Years from 1 July 2010 to 31 August 2021, the Company was not inspected until the financial
statements date.

Value Added Tax

The Company is not subject to the provisions of Law No. 67 of 2016.

-53-




CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

32. Tax position (continued)

2) Cairo For Investment & Real Estate Development “S.A.E”

First: Corporate tax
1- Years from 1992 to 1993

The Company was inspected for the corporate income tax for and the final assessment was
made upon the decision of the appeal committee by amount of EGP 149,952. Dispute between
the Company and the specialized authority was referred to the court and the dispute is still

pending and the company has paid the tax according to the appeal committee decision.

2- Years from 1994 to 1995

The Company was inspected for the corporate income tax and assessment was made with
amount of EGP 44,188. The Company was notified by form no. 18 and it was objected and it
was notified by form no.19 and it has been appealed. The file was referred to the appeal
committee and then referred to the specialized court, and the company has paid the tax

according to the appeal committee decision tax notice.

3- Years from 1996 to 2001

The Company was inspected for the corporate income tax. The Company was notified by form
no. 18 and it was objected and it was notified by form no.19 by EGP 2,152,266 and has been
appealed and the file was referred to the internal committee of the Authority and then to the
appeal committees, and defence memorandum was submitted and the appeal committee
decision had been issued. The dispute between the Company and the Authority was referred to
the court from years 1998 to 2001 and the dispute is still ongoing for not applying the

provisions of Article 21 of Law No. 157 of 1981 and its amendments.

The Company paid the tax and the penalty with a total amount of EGP 3,466,645 of

commercial profits tax for the years 1996 until 2001.

4- Years from 2002 to 2004

The authority has charged the Company depending on estimation. The Company was notified
by form no. 18 and it was objected and it was notified by form no.19 and it has been appealed.
The file was referred to the internal committee of the authority and the company submitted a
request to re-inspection these years and the dispute was referred to appeal committees. Defence
memorandum was submitted and the appeal committee decision had been issued to return the

file to the Authority to prepare for the.completion of the inspection of the Authority.

5- Years from 2005102008 . . .

The tax returns were submitted on.deadline and the tax was paid based on the tax returns and

the Company was not inspected since it was not included in the inspection sample.

¢4
‘

6-  Years from 2009 to 2010 S

The Company was charged with the corporate income tax based on estimation. The Company
was notified by the form 19 in'the amount of EGP 7,513,695 and it has been appealed. The file

was referred to the internal committee of the Authority.

7- Years from 2011 to 2012

The Company was charged with the corporate income tax based on estimation. The Company
was notified by the form 19 in the amount of EGP 8,784,566 and it has been appealed. The file

was referred to the internal committee of the Authority for re-inspection.
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32. Tax position (continued)

?2) Cairo For Investment & Real Estate Development “S.A.E” (continued)

8- Years from 2013 to 2014

The Company was charged with the corporate income tax based on estimation. The Company
was notified by the form 19 and it has been appealed. The file was referred to the internal

committee of the Authority to issue a decision for re-inspection.

9- Years from 2015 to 31 August 2021

The Company has not been inspected for these years and it submits the tax returns at the

specified tax dates and the tax is paid based on the tax return.

Second: Stamp tax
1. Years from 1 September 1992 to 31 October 1997

The Company was inspected until 31 October 1997. The Company was notified of forms 3
stamp tax and an internal committee was formed and the tax payable by the Company was paid.

2, Years from 1 November 1997 to 30 September 2002

The Company was inspected and the company was notified with a form 4 stamp and it has been
appealed. The file was referred to the appeal committee. The final assessment was approved by
the appeal committee decision in the amount of EGP 23,585. The tax was paid by scheduled

checks.

3. Years from 1 October 2002 to 31 October 2005

The Company was inspected and notified with forms 3 and 4 stamps and they were objected.
The file was referred to the appeal committee and the final assessment was approved by the

appeal committee decision in the amount of EGP 22,946.

Pay an amount of EGP 69,719 of differences and stamp tax inspection for the years 2002 until

200s.

Third: Salaries tax
I-  Years from 1992 to 1994

The Company was assessed and accounted for and the tax due for those years was paid.
2-  Years from 1995 to 1999

Salaries tax was assessed to the amount of EGP 265,245 basis of the non-appeal assessment and
the dispute was referred to the competent court and, the dlspute is still ongoing. The tax amount

was paid by scheduled checks el .

3- Years from 2000 to 2001

Salaries tax was notified and the form was objected to within the legal deadline. The dispute
was referred to an internal committee and. then to an appeal committee. Defence memorandum
was submitted and the tax owed by the.Company was paid based on the decision of the appeal

committee.

4- Years from 1 January 2005 to 30 June 2005

The company was inspected with an assessed tax on the company in the amount of EGP
496,329. The form was totally appealed. The file was referred to the internal committee, and
then to the appeal committees. Defence memorandum was submitted and it was held for the

decision on 20 January 2019.
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32. Tax position (continued)

2) Cairo For Investment & Real Estate Development “S.A.E” (continued)

5- Years from 1 July 2005 till 2010
Salaries tax was assessed by EGP 9,030,294 and the Company was notified with form 38 that it
was objected. The file was referred to the internal committee, and then to the appeal
committees and the sessions to resolve the dispute are being attended.

6-  Years from 2011 to 31 August 2021
The Company was not notified until the date of the financial statements.
Pay an amount of EGP 981,000 of differences and salaries tax inspection for the years from
2002 until 2011.

2) Cairo For Investment & Real Estate Development “S.A.E” (continued)

Fourth: General tax on sales

The Company submits tax returns on sales regularly and at legal deadlines. The Company was
inspected since inception until 2005, and the tax differences resulting from the inspection, as well as
the additional tax, were paid, and the Company was inspected for the years 2006 to 2013. The tax and
penalties were fully paid for that period in the amount of EGP 687,341. The Company was not
notified on any other inspections.

A3) Egyptian Company for Education Systems “S.A.E”

First: Commercial profits tax

Years from 2005 to 31 August 2021

- Tax returns were submitted on the legal deadline and the Company is exempted from taxes until
4 May 2008 in accordance with law No. 91 of 2005. .

- The period from 5 May 2008 until 30 June 2016, the Company was not notified of the inspection
date taking into consideration that law No. 91 of 2005 was applied on a sample basis.

- Period from 1 July 2016 to 31 August 2021.

Second: Salaries tax

Years from 2005 to 31 August 2021

The Company pays the payroll tax monthly on the legal deadlines and there are no payroll tax
notifications for these years.

Third: Stamp tax )
Years from 2005 to 31 August 2021 T 2 Y
The Company did not receive any tax-notifications related to the tax period.

Fourth: General tax on sales o god D sl B ‘
The Company is not subject to the provisions of Law No.:11 of 1991 arid its amendments.

Fifth: Value Added Tax 4 TNV RS '
The Company is not subject to the provisions of Law No. 67 of 2016.
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32. Tax position (continued)

) Global Educational Technology “S.A.E”

First: Commercial profits tax
I-  Years from 2003 to 2004
The Company submits the tax returns on the legal deadlines and it has not been notified of the
inspection during these years.
2-  Years from 2005 to 4 May 2008
- The Company submits tax returns on the legal deadlines
- The Company is exempted from the commercial profits tax in accordance with Law No.
91 of 2005.
3. Years from 2008 to 31 August 2021
The Company submits the tax returns on the legal deadlines and it has not been notified of
the inspection during these years.
Second: Salaries tax
Years from 2003 to 31 August 2021
The Company pays the payroll tax monthly on the legal deadlines and there are no payroll tax
notifications for these years.
Third: Stamp tax
Years from 2003 to 31 August 2021
The Company did not receive any tax notifications related to the tax period.
Fourth: General tax on sales
Years from 2003 to 31 August 2021
The Company is not subject to the provisions of Law No. 11 of 1991 and its amendments.
Fifth: Value Added Tax
Years from 2003 to 31 August 2021
The Company is not subject to the provisions of law No. 67 of 2016.

5) Future and Nations Company “S.A.E”

First: Income tax
The Company has not been notified of the inspection since inception until now. The tax return is
prepared and submitted on the legal deadlines according to the requirements of the Income Tax Law

issued by Law No. 91 of 2005.

Second: Salaries tax
The Company has not been notified of the inspection since inception until now and payment is made
at the beginning of each month on the legal deadlines.

Third: Stamp tax == |
The Company has not been notified of the-inspection since inception ’(until now.

¥

R 4

-57-




CAIRO FOR INVESTMENT AND REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (S.A.E)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements - for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

(All amounts in the notes are shown in Egyptian Pounds unless otherwise stated)

32. Tax position (continued)

6) Upper Egypt for Educational Services “S.A.E”

First: Commerecial profits tax
Years from 2009 to 31 August 2021
The tax returns were submitted on the legal deadlines and the Company has not been notified of the

inspection during these years.

Second: Salaries tax

Years from 2009 to 31 August 2021

The Company pays the payroll tax monthly on the legal deadlines and there are no payroll tax
notifications for these years. Provision was made amounting to EGP 25,000 against dispute of salaries

tax.

Third: Stamp tax
Years from 2009 to 31 August 2021
The Company did not receive any tax notifications related to the tax period.

Fourth: General tax on sales
Years from 2009 to 31 August 2021
The Company is not subject to the provisions of Law No. 11 of 1991 and its amendments.

Fifth: Value Added Tax
Years from 2009 to 31 August 2021
The Company is not subject to the provisions of law No. 67 of 2016.

@) Badr University “S.A.E”

Income tax

The income tax is calculated at the realised surplus in accordance with the applicable Laws and
regulations in this regard and by using the applicable tax rates at the date of the financial statements.
The income tax payable is recognised in the statement of revenues and expenses.

The University’s records were not inspected from the date of inception until 31 August 2021.

Payroll tax

The University's records were inspected from the date of inception until 31 August 2018.

The University’s records were not inspected from 1 September 2018 until 31 August 2021.

Stamp tax

The University’s records were not inspected from the date of mceptlon until 31 August 2021.
Withholding tax i

The University's records were inspected from the date ofi mceptlon untll 31 August 2014.

The University’s records were not mspected from 1 September 2014 untll 31 August 2021.
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32. Tax position (continued)

8 Canadian Columbia International School “S.A.E”

Commerecial profits tax

1-Years 2008 and 2009

The Company was inspected for the corporate profits tax for the years 2008 and 2009, and the final
assessment was made on the Company based on the reservation form 9 and the payment was made in
full.

2- Years 2009 and 2010
The Company was inspected for corporate profits tax for the years 2009 and 2010, amounting to EGP

164,617, and the payment was made in full.

3-  Years 2011 and 2012

The Company was inspected for the corporate profits tax for the years 2012 and 2011, and an amount
of EGP 2,138,519 was assessed. The dispute between the Company and the competent tax authority
was referred to the court, and the dispute is still ongoing, and part of the claim was paid in the amount
of EGP 400,000 based on the decision of the appeal committee.

4.  Years 2013 and 2014

The Company was inspected for the corporate profits tax for the years 2013 and 2014. The Company
was notified of the estimated form 19 at an amount of EGP 9,178,233 and a delay penalty of EGP
7,175,213, and it was appealed and no payment has been made to date.

5. Years from 2015 to 2019
The Company has not yet been inspected to date and it submits the tax returns at the specified tax

dates and the tax is paid based on the tax return.

Salaries tax

1. Years from 2008 to 2015

The payroll tax was assessed at EGP 9,533,890. The inspection was made and payment was made in
full.

2. Years from 2016 to 2019
These years have not been inspected, and no claims have been received from the Authority.

Stamp tax

Years from 2008 to 2017 , R LN 5 B

The Company was inspected, it was. notified. with a stamp 3 form, and the taxes due from the
Company were paid. ' S =34

Real estate taxes § -
Years from 2013 to 2018 i 2. ,
The Company was notified of the assessment of ‘the tax dué', amounting to EGP 1,263,033, and tax

was paid partially at an amount of EGP 360,000.
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33. Commitments
A. Capital commitments

Capital commitments contracted on the date of the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
31 August 2021 31 August 2020

Fixed assets 893,251,026 708,272,091

B. Operating lease

The Group is leasing many buses and a building of one of the schools for operational purposes. The
length of these contracts are between 1 to 5 years.

Total future payments for the lease contracts are as follows:
31 August 2021 31 August 2020

Less than one year 48,962,691 33,383,653
Over 1 year and less than S years 249,959,433 170,426,386

34. Significant events

The global Corona virus disease “COVID-19” put more than a third of the world's population in a
form of lock down, disrupting daily life and patterns for testing long-term pressures. We pay tribute to
the front-line workers who risk their lives and the lives of their families for the public interest, and the
workers who have stayed in their homes in an encouraging demonstration of global solidarity.
Families have shown their resilience, ability to adapt and act with the changes that have been caused
by "COVID-19” Corona virus. The Group is proud to have played a role in their willingness to face
these challenges. As the world continues to address the consequences of Corona virus "COVID-19",
we are committed to keep our shareholders aware of our response to the disease in main fields
including the continuity of educational, health and safety services, transport services, construction,
human resources and financial reporting.

The Group has taken all measures to_start-th¢ second dcademic year 2020/2021 since the offering on
the Egyptian Stock Exchange in October 2018:'Over the past yé?_ar, our management team has worked

\ 2,

tirelessly to fulfil its promises toour investors t'hrp_uéh»:‘

¥

l. Delivering robust results despite'the 5challen’g“1§fg operating s‘i;onditions of the pandemic COVID-

19. { T INPY s

2. Providing many opportunities to" further develop ‘our educational platform that serves the
middle and upper classes in_the Egyptian market with the highest standards of quality and
education.

3. Improving our economic performance profile.
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34. Significant events (continued)

By reviewing the academic figures for the year 2020/2021, the Group has achieved a very important
milestone by reaching 41,050 students in both basic and even higher education. Moving from 36,900
male and female students in 2019/2020 to more than 41,000 students this year 2020/2021 and this
represents achieving a major goal of reaching 41,000 students by the 2020/2021 academic year, which
ensures that the Company continues to achieve its goal of growth year after year. We announce that
we currently have 28,100 students registered in the basic education sector, with a growth rate of 6%
compared to the academic year 2019/2020, and 12,950 students registered in the higher education
sector at Badr University in Cairo, with a growth rate of 25,2% compared to the academic year
2019/2020. Admission to applications for four new colleges at Badr University has started strongly
for the 2020/2021 academic year, since the first submission was announced.

Despite the difficult conditions that have cast a shadow over the education systems around the world,
the number of students at CIRA has increased by 4,150 students in both the basic and higher
education segment. CIRA continues to lay the foundation on which It reinforces the Company's
position as a major provider of educational quality in Egypt. With the fast increase of student
enrolment in both our basic and higher education sectors, we are adding new schools and colleges to
meet the increased demand of Egypt's middle class sector for quality and affordable education.

As for Badr University, the Group has opened four new colleges in the next academic year 2020/2021
and the Group is on its way to obtain the necessary approvals to open the colleges. Construction work
on the four new faculties buildings has been completed.

Regarding the British Regent School in Mansoura, the Group has completed all construction work and
obtained all necessary licenses, and the school has already been opened and students are accepted,
starting from 17 October 2020.

As for Badr University in Assiut (BUA), the Group started excavation and construction work on
9/9/2020 for a university for the first phase of the project. It is planned that the project includes Badr
University (BUA) as well as the international campus on a plot of land of 81 acres. The project has a
number of colleges and community colleges, services for students, the commercial complex and the
hospital to serve as a centre for providing educational and community services in the heart of Upper

Egypt.

During the subsequent period on 19 October: 2021 1t ‘Wwas: mdlcated that the Group’s investment in
Star Light Company - the main shareholder in Canadlan British Columbia International School
increased by 20%, so that the percentage of the Group s shareholdmg in the Company is 80%, which
was recorded as paid under the purchase of investments account under debtors and other debit
balances in an amount of EGP 43,755, 724-as ‘at 31 August 2021. Among the Group's plan is to
acquire the remaining 20%, so that the Company becomes fully owned by the Group.
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